S262032	
Case No.	

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Gregory Geiser,

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Cross-Respondent,
v.

PETER KUHNS, et al.

Defendants, Respondents, and Cross-Appellants.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE, CASE NO. B279738
SUPERIOR COURT OF COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
CASE NOS. BS161018, BS161019 & BS161020
THE HONORABLE JUDGE ARMEN TAMZARIAN

Petition for Review

Matthew Strugar

State Bar No. 232951

Law Office of Matthew Strugar

3435 Wilshire Blvd.

Suite 2910

Los Angeles, CA 90010

(323) 696-2299

matthew@matthewstrugar.com

Colleen Flynn

State Bar No. 234281

Law Office of Colleen Flynn

3435 Wilshire Blvd.

I.	Summary of Argument
II.	By Defining the Issue as Narrowly as Possible, the Majority Made the <i>FilmOn</i> Analysis Superfluous

	Majority Opinion Threatens Anti- Protections for the Media	
IV.	The Court Should Grant Review I	Because the
III.	The Court Should Grant Review I Majority Opinion Conflicts with A Decisions Applying the Anti-SLAI to Public Protests	All Other PP Statute
	C. Properly Applied, <i>FilmOn</i> Reve Connection to a Public Issue	
	B. The Court Should Grant Review Clear That the Defendant's Ide the Issue Is Entitled to Deferer	entification of
	A. The Majority Flouted FilmOn's Determining an Issue of Public Under the Anti-SLAPP Statute	Interest

Table of Authorities

CASES

Bikkina v. Mahadevan
(2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 70
City of L.A. v. Animal Def. League (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 606
Cross v. Cooper (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 357
Fashion 21 v. Coalition for Humane Immigrant Rights of Los Angeles
(2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 1138 24, 41
FilmOn.com Inc. v. DoubleVerify Inc. (2019) 7 Cal.5th 133passim
Geiser v. Kuhns, review granted Nov. 14, 2018, S251756
Ghiassi v. Bagheri (July 17, 2019) No. H042939, 2019 WL 321385429
Gilbert v. Sykes (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 13
Hecimovich v. Encinal School Parent Teacher Organization (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 450
Huntingdon Life Scis., Inc. v. Stop Huntingdon Animal Cruelty USA, Inc.
(2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1228 24, 36, 40
Jeppson v. Ley
(2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 845

Lam v. Ngo (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 832
M. G. v. Time Warner, Inc. (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 623
Mann v. Quality Old Time Service, Inc. (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 90
Organization for a Better Austin v. Keefe (1971) 402 U.S. 415
Rivero v. American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 913
Serova v. Sony Music Entm't (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 103
Serova v. Sony Music Entm't, review granted Apr. 22, 2020, S260736
Terry v. Davis Community Church (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 1534
Thomas v. Quintero (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 635
Weinberg v. Feisel (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 1122
Wilson v. Cable News Network, Inc. (2019) 7 Cal.5th 871
World Financial Group, Inc. v. HBW Ins. & Financial Services,
Inc. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1561
Zhao v. Wong (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1114

STATUTES

Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16, subd. (a)
Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16, subd. (e)(4)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1296 (1997–1998 Reg. Sess.)
Barajas, ACORN Reborn: Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment, Breitbart News (May 21, 2016)
Barnes, Rialto family's eviction prompting protests in Manhattan Beach, San Bernardino County Sun (July 24, 2016)
Burns, Manhattan Beach moves to ban picketing outside homes (July 20, 2016) Daily Breeze
Cambron, American dream denied: Homeowners preyed upon by multi-billion dollar company, People's World (Apr. 4, 2016)
Dreier, A Working Class Family Battles a 'Fix and Flip' Real Estate Tycoon, Huffington Post (Mar. 28, 2016)
Everyone Asks, Why Does It Take So Long?, The Housing Bubble (Apr. 5, 2016)
Familia logra parar el desalojo y tiene oportunidad de recuperar su hogar, La Opinión (Dec. 17, 2014)
Martínez Ortega, <i>De aquí no me sacan más que arrestado'</i> advierte dueño de casa al borde del desalojo, La Opinión (Mar. 24, 2016)

McDonald, Manhattan Beach council modifies upcoming election, rejects picketing law, Easy Reader (July 21, 2016) 15 Segura, Manhattan Beach backs away from proposed restrictions on picketing, Daily Breeze (Aug. 18, 2016)
Sen. Com. On Judiciary Rep. on Sen. Bill 1264 (1991–1992 Reg. Sess.) Feb. 25, 1992
Sen. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1296 (1997–1998 Reg. Sess.)
Victoria, <i>Rialto family fights eviction; says realtor's actions unjust</i> , Rialto Record Weekly (May 12, 2016)
TREATISES
Burke, Anti-SLAPP Litigation (The Rutter Group 2016) 39

Issue Presented for Review

Is organizing and attending a community demonstration "conduct . . . in connection with . . . an issue of public interest," Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16, subd. (e)(4), where the undisputed evidence established that (a) the demonstration took place on a public sidewalk protest, (b) between 25 and 30 people attended the demonstration, (c) several sizable media outlets reported on the dispute before and after the demonstration, and (d) the plaintiff's own company issued a press release about the dispute?

Why Review Should Be Granted

The Court of Appeal here withheld protection of the anti-SLAPP statute from a housing rights organizer who was sued by a wealthy developer after the organizer planned and attended a demonstration against the developer's business practices. In so holding, the court's opinion threatens those who participate in public protests and warps the anti-SLAPP statute's protections beyond recognition.

The facts here are largely undisputed. When Pablo and Mercedes Caamal lost the house they shared with their three children to foreclosure during the financial crisis, they turned to the Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment Action (ACCE)—one of the state's largest housing rights organizations—for help. ACCE's Los Angeles director Peter Kuhns organized the community to help the Caamals repurchase the property from

Wedgewood, the corporate buyer. News coverage documented the ongoing struggle.

After Wedgewood evicted the family, Kuhns, the Caamals, and a group of supporters held a public sidewalk demonstration outside Wedgewood CEO Greg Geiser's home. About 25 to 30 people attended. They sang songs, chanted, and gave speeches. It lasted an hour. Police observed the protest and gave no instructions or warnings to the demonstrators.

Geiser sued Kuhns for his decision to organize and participate in the public sidewalk demonstration. He sued the Caamals, too. And when settlement talks broke down because Geiser insisted that Kuhns and ACCE agree to never criticize his company again, Wedgewood issued a press release detailing the dispute and criticizing ACCE for not agreeing to the non-disparagement clause.

This Court first granted review in this case in 2018. (Geiser v. Kuhns, review granted Nov. 14, 2018, S251756.) After this Court transferred the case back to the Second District with instructions to reconsider its result in light of FilmOn.com Inc. v. DoubleVerify Inc. (2019) 7 Cal.5th 133 (FilmOn), a divided panel found the sidewalk protest attended by dozens of people was an issue purely personal to the Caamals and not an issue of public interest for the purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute. In finding that the dispute was purely personal to the Caamals, the majority failed to explain the presence of Kuhns—the organizer who Geiser also sued—or the dozens of other protesters with no stake in, or connection to, the foreclosure of the Caamals' home.

The dissent would have found that this case was a paradigmatic SLAPP suit, as evidenced by multiple demonstrators, the involvement of a housing rights organization, and press attention to the dispute. The dissent lamented that "[t]he upshot of the majority's anti-SLAPP holding is that in a small corner of Southern California, the venerable American tradition of peaceful public protest—often the only resort of those with modest means—is left diminished by a well-funded litigation scheme seeking to suppress it." (Dis. Opn. at p. 12.)

This case presents the opportunity for this Court to set the opposing boundary to the one it set in FilmOn. FilmOn revealed when speech does not further the conversation on an issue of public interest: a commercial speaker privately communicating to its subscribers. But some courts—both before and since FilmOn, including the majority here—have swung radically in the other direction, interpreting the public interest requirement so narrowly that it would deny protection to even the paradigmatic SLAPP suit. As FilmOn provided guidance to courts on deciding when speech does not further the conversation on a public issue, courts now need guidance on when speech does further such conversations.

Review of this case (for a second time) is necessary to ensure the majority's misapplication of *FilmOn* does not become the law in California.

Statement of the Case

I. After a Family Loses Their Home to Foreclosure, a Community Organizes to Help Them Repurchase It from the Corporate Buyer

Mercedes and Pablo Caamal lived in their Rialto home with their three children for about a decade before they lost it to foreclosure in the wake of the financial crisis. (1 JA 96–98.)

An affiliate of Wedgewood, the nation's largest fix-and-flip company, bought the home and moved to evict the family. (2 JA 326–328; 1 JA 96.)

When they regained employment, the family reached out to Wedgewood in an effort to keep their home, but the company ignored them. (1 JA 96.) The family sought assistance from the ACCE, an advocacy organization dedicated to saving homes from foreclosures and fighting against displacement of long-term residents. (1 JA 111.)

With an eviction pending, Mercedes and Pablo Caamal—together with ACCE's Los Angeles director Peter Kuhns and other supporters—went to Wedgewood's office building and asked to see Wedgwood's CEO Gregory Geiser. (1 JA 96, 108, 111.) He was not there. (2 JA 321.)

Another Wedgewood executive met with the family, agreed to halt the eviction, and the demonstrators dispersed. (1 JA 96.) Police responded but no one was cited or arrested. (1 JA 111.)

The media took note. La Opinión—the second largest newspaper in Los Angeles—ran a story about the Caamals' desperate attempt to remain in their home. (See *Familia logra*

parar el desalojo y tiene oportunidad de recuperar su hogar, La Opinión (Dec. 17, 2014) https://bit.ly/2YyMZ6z"> [as of May 6, 2020], cited at 1 JA 75, 129, 183.) The headline read, "Family Manages to Stop Eviction and Has Opportunity to Regain Home," and the article weaved the family's story into the larger narrative of the thousands of families who lost their homes to companies unwilling to negotiate. (*Ibid.*)

When Mrs. Caamal obtained financing and sought to negotiate with Wedgewood, it ignored her again. (1 JA 97, 105–106.)

The family—along with Kuhns and others—returned to Wedgewood's office, seeking a response to their entreaties. (1 JA 98, 111.) The same executive again agreed to meet with the family and review their loan documents if the supporters dispersed. (1 JA 111, 165, 219.) They did. (*Ibid.*) Police responded but again no one was cited or arrested. (*Ibid.*)

La Opinión ran another piece about the dispute. (See Martínez Ortega, 'De aquí no me sacan más que arrestado' advierte dueño de casa al borde del desalojo, La Opinión (Mar. 24, 2016) < https://bit.ly/3c6weDJ> [as of May 6, 2020], cited at 3 JA 731.) That article described how the public had mobilized support for the family by camping out in the front yard to stave off the eviction and again wove the family's story into the broader narrative: families suffering personal and national hardship losing their homes to predatory house-purchasing corporations. (Ibid.)



A still from the second La Opinión article.

The online news source Huffington Post also ran an article about the family's fight. (See Dreier, *A Working Class Family Battles a 'Fix and Flip' Real Estate Tycoon*, Huffington Post (Mar. 28, 2016) https://bit.ly/2xyZt2Q [as of May 6, 2020], cited at 1 JA 75, 129, 183.) It too situated the family's fight within the broader context of the housing market meltdown, noting the family's condition "is an experience that millions of Americans have faced." (*Ibid.*) It detailed "an around-the-clock vigil to demand that the eviction be stopped," attended by several community members. (*Ibid.*)



Facing eviction by Wedgewood Inc, Pablo Caamal and his family have launched a vigil in front of their Rialto, CA home, supported by friends and neighbors (Photo by *La Opinion*).

A still from the Huffington Post article.

II. After the Family Is Evicted, Housing Rights Activists Hold a Public Protest Outside CEO Geiser's Residence

On March 30, 2016, Sheriff's Deputies locked the family out of their home. (1 JA 98.)

Together with the Caamals, Kuhns and ACCE organized an emergency public demonstration for that evening outside Geiser's Manhattan Beach home. (1 JA 98, 108, 112.) Between 25 and 30 people attended. (1 JA 114.) The local chapter of the National Lawyers Guild dispatched an attorney to act as a legal observer. (*Ibid.*)

The demonstrators held signs, sang songs, chanted, and gave short speeches, all from the public sidewalk. (1 JA 98, 108, 112.) Within a few minutes of the start of the demonstration, several police officers arrived, who allowed the demonstration to

continue without warning or instruction. (1 JA 98, 108, 112, 114.) It lasted a little over an hour. (1 JA 98, 108, 112, 114.)

III. Geiser Sues the Family and the Housing Rights Organizer as Media Interest Grows

Two days after the eviction and demonstration, Geiser filed petitions for civil harassment restraining orders against Kuhns and the Caamals on the basis of their public demonstration outside Geiser's home. 1 JA 22–63.

The lawsuit fueled the media's interest in the story. Various regional newspapers and online outlets ran stories. (See Cambron, American dream denied: Homeowners preyed upon by multi-billion dollar company, People's World (Apr. 4, 2016) https://bit.ly/2YyzFPu [as of May 6, 2020]; Everyone Asks, Why Does It Take So Long?, The Housing Bubble (Apr. 5, 2016) https://bit.ly/2W3gsnf> [as of May 6, 2020]; Victoria, Rialto family fights eviction; says realtor's actions unjust, Rialto Record Weekly (May 12, 2016) < https://bit.ly/2YAKssE > [as of May 6, 2020] (Victoria), each cited at 3 JA 617, 630; Burns, Manhattan Beach moves to ban picketing outside homes, Daily Breeze (July 20, 2016) < https://bit.ly/2SyFXdZ > [as of May 6, 2020]; McDonald, Manhattan Beach council modifies upcoming election, rejects picketing law, Easy Reader (July 21, 2016) https://bit.ly/3c6sIZQ [as of May 6, 2020]; Barnes, Rialto family's eviction prompting protests in Manhattan Beach, San Bernardino County Sun (July 24, 2016) https://bit.ly/2Wtn1Pe [as of May 6, 2020]; Segura, Manhattan Beach backs away from

proposed restrictions on picketing, Daily Breeze (Aug. 18, 2016) [as of May 6, 2020], each cited at 3 JA 732.)

And Breitbart News ran a story about the foreclosure, demonstration, and lawsuit. (Barajas, *ACORN Reborn: Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment*, Breitbart News (May 21, 2016) https://bit.ly/3b5n1tK> [as of May 6, 2020], cited at 3 JA 732.) The byline failed to mention that the author—who had never written an article for the outlet before and has not since—is a Wedgewood public-relations spokesperson. (See Victoria, *supra*, quoting Breitbart News article's author Hector Barajas on dispute with the Caamals and describing him as a "Wedgewood spokesperson.")

IV. After Kuhns and the Caamals File Anti-SLAPP Motions, Geiser Dismisses His Suits and Issues a Press Release

Kuhns and the Caamals filed anti-SLAPP motions. (1 JA 64–225.) The parties tried to settle the lawsuits but negotiations broke down after Geiser insisted on a nondisparagement clause that sought to insulate Wedgewood from any future criticism by ACCE. (3 JA 672–682.)

After walking away from the settlement, Geiser dismissed each of his lawsuits while the anti-SLAPP motions were still pending. (3 JA 711–718.)

Before serving the requests for dismissal, Wedgewood issued a press release detailing its version of the settlement negotiations and their eventual demise. (5 JA 1348; Moody, Media Statement In Response to ACCE, Wedgewood, Inc. (Aug. 16, 2017) < https://bit.ly/2SFbwTs [as of May 6, 2020].) The press release admitted Wedgewood refused to settle because ACCE would not agree to abstain from criticizing Wedgewood in the future. (5 JA 1348.) It decried ACCE's "portray[al of] the Caamal family as victims, while exploiting a very emotional issue without any serious attempt . . . to resolve the situation." (Ibid.) And it acknowledged the public's interest, further editorializing that for ACCE, "making headlines and political gain[] far outweighs helping the Caamals return to their home." (Ibid.)

V. After Kuhns and the Caamals' Anti-SLAPP Motions Are Denied for Lack of a Public Interest, This Court Directs the Court of Appeals to Reconsider

Kuhns and the Caamals moved for an award of attorney fees under both the anti-SLAPP statute and the civil harassment statute. (3 JA 719–721.)

The trial court denied the motions in part under the anti-SLAPP, finding the statute did not apply because there was no public issue or issue of public interest, despite months' worth of press coverage and public protests showing otherwise. (6 JA 1689–1692.) The court granted the motion in limited part under the discretionary fee-shifting provision of the civil harassment statute. (6 JA 1692–1695.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order finding Kuhns' and the Caamals' protest was not done in connection with an issue of public interest. Acting Presiding Justice Lamar Baker dissented and predicted the panel would have to reconsider its decision given this Court's then-pending review on the scope of the anti-SLAPP statute's public interest prong.

This Court granted review and held briefing pending the decision in *FilmOn*. After this Court issued its opinion, it transferred this case back to the Court of Appeal with directions to reconsider its decision in light of *FilmOn*.

VI. The Court of Appeal Majority Again Finds a Lack of Public Interest

On reconsideration, the Court of Appeals again split 2–1. In what the dissent characterized as a "largely recycled opinion," Dis. Opn. at p. 1, the majority again found that Kuhns' and the Caamals' protest was not connected to an issue of public interest.

In applying the first part of the *FilmOn* analysis—determining "what public issue or . . . issue of public interest the speech in question implicates," *FilmOn*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 149¹—the majority defined the issue narrowly. It determined that the public protest outside Geiser's residence attended by more than two dozen people was "focused on coercing Wedgewood into selling back the property to Ms. Caamal at a reduced price," and as such "was a private matter concerning a former home owner

18

_

¹ Internal quotation marks, alterations, and citations have been omitted here and throughout this Petition, unless otherwise noted.

and the corporation that purchased her former home and not a public issue or an issue of public interest." (Opn. at p. 18.)

The majority grounded this narrow framing of the issue by focusing on Kuhns' and the Caamals' earlier visits to Wedgewood's office and virtually ignoring the sizable protest on a public sidewalk outside Geiser's home. (Opn. at pp. 19–20.) Similarly, the majority found that "a third-party participant['s]" declaration that the protest was organized "to protest unfair and deceptive practices used by Wedgewood . . . and its agents in acquiring the real property of Pablo and Mercedes Caamal, and evicting them from their home" was a motivation "purely personal to the Caamals and did not address any societal issues of residential displacement, gentrification, or the root causes of the great recession." (Id. at pp. 20–21.) And the majority found that while there was evidence that 25 to 30 people attended the protest outside Geiser's home and held signs, sang songs, and gave speeches, there was no evidence of the *specific text* on the signs, or the *specific words* in the speeches or songs, linking their rudimentary protest to more sophisticated, abstract issues of gentrification and displacement. (*Id.* at p. 21.)

The majority dismissed out of hand the media coverage of the dispute between the Caamals and Wedgewood, quoting a Legislatively overturned case to conclude that "[w]hile the fact of media coverage may be indicative of a public matter, '[m]edia coverage cannot by itself . . . create an issue of public interest within the statutory meaning." (Opn. at p. 24, quoting *Zhao v*. *Wong* (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1114, 1121 (*Zhao*).)

Having determined on the first step of the *FilmOn* analysis that the issue was purely personal, the majority had little need for the contextual analysis required by the second step. (Opn. at pp. 25–27.)

The majority's opinion concluded by conceding that Kuhns' and the Caamals' activity "does bear certain hallmarks of classic SLAPP conduct," including holding signs, singing songs, and giving short speeches. (Opn. at p. 26.) But the majority dismissed those hallmarks by asserting that "merely characterizing conduct as a demonstration or picket does not grant that conduct First Amendment protections." (*Ibid.*)

VII. The Dissenting Opinion Would Have Found a Public Interest

Acting Presiding Justice Baker dissented again.

The dissent began by noting that early in *FilmOn*, this Court recognized that "[i]n the paradigmatic SLAPP suit, a well-funded developer limits free expression by imposing litigation costs on citizens who protest, write letters, and distribute flyers in opposition to a local project." (Dis. Opn. at p. 2, quoting *FilmOn*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 143.) This case, the dissent noted, has 1) a well-funded developer; 2) citizens protesting a local project; and 3) limits on free expression by imposing litigation costs. (Dis. Opn. at p. 2.)

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