In the Supreme Court of the State of California

CASE NO. S262032

GREGORY GEISER,

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Cross-Respondent, v.

PETER KUHNS, ET AL.,

Defendants, Respondents, and Cross-Appellants.

Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District Division Five, Case No. B279738

GREGORY GEISER'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

*Frank Sandelmann, Esq. (CSB # 186415)
Joshua A. Valene, Esq. (CSB # 292109)
Dinsmore & Sandelmann, LLP
324 Manhattan Beach Boulevard, Suite 201
Manhattan Beach, California 90266
Tel: (310) 318-1220; Fax: (310) 318-1223
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Petitioner, Appellant, Cross-Respondent, and Respondent Gregory Geiser

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. There Are No Grounds for Review by the California Supreme Court.

The grounds for review by this Court are governed by California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500 (b). The decision whether to take on such review is discretionary. (*People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 347-349 (*Davis*).) Correction of a purported error, particularly in an unpublished Court of Appeal opinion such as the present case, is not a basis for review by this

Court. (See Cal. Civ. Prac. Procedure § 43:7, citing *Davis*.) Instead, review may be taken "When necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, 8.500(b)(1).)

Defendants contend that "This case presents the opportunity for this Court to set the opposing boundary to the one set in *FilmOn*." (Ptn., at p. 10.) However, there is no need for this Court to do so. Given just how new the *FilmOn* decision and its test are, there is no need to maintain statewide harmony and secure a uniformity of decision. Moreover, Defendants have not established a disharmony in how the various districts of the Court of Appeal apply the *FilmOn* test so as to require a decision by this Court. Defendants have also not explained how the Court of Appeal's unpublished, and therefore uncitable, opinion creates such disharmony. (See Cal. Rules of Court, 8.1115.)

Instead, Defendants attempt to paint the intermediate courts' reliance on the "categories of public interested matters" set forth in *Rivero v*. *American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 913 (*Rivero*) as inherently in conflict with *FilmOn*. *Rivero* is still good law and it, along with *FilmOn* and existing Anti-SLAPP jurisprudence, is sufficient to guide cases like the present one.

- B. The Court of Appeal's Unpublished Majority Opinion
 Is In Line With Other Decisions Applying the AntiSLAPP Statute.
 - The FilmOn Decision Established a Clear
 Precedent That Guided the Court of Appeal's
 Unpublished Majority Opinion.

FilmOn involved a lawsuit by FilmOn, an online video distribution service, against DoubleVerify, an online advertising service, for disparaging FilmOn in confidential reports to DoubleVerify's clients. (FilmOn, supra, 7

Cal.5th at 140.) The trial court granted DoubleVerify's Anti-SLAPP Motion on the ground that the reports were covered under the statute and the Court of Appeal affirmed. (*Id.* at 142.) This Court took on the *FilmOn* case to determine whether the commercial nature of a defendant's speech is relevant in determining whether that speech merits protection under the catchall provision of the Anti-SLAPP statute. (*Id.* at 140.) This Court reversed the Court of Appeal's decision, holding that the defendant's reports at issue were "too tenuously tethered to the issues of public interest they implicate, and too remotely connected to the public conversation about those issues, to merit protection under the catchall provision." (*Id.* at 140.)

This Court thereby established a two-part analysis for determining whether a defendant's conduct merits Anti-SLAPP protection: 1) Identifying what "public issue or issue of public interest," if any, the speech at issue implicates (i.e., a question answered by looking at the *content* of the speech); and 2) examining what functional relationship exists between the speech and the public conversation about some matter of public interest (i.e., the *context* of the speech). (*Id.* at 149-150.) As to the latter element, the Anti-SLAPP statute requires there be "some degree of closeness between the challenged speech and the asserted public interest." (*Id.* at 150, citing *Weinberg v. Feisel* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 1122, 1132 (*Weinberg*).)

In articulating what constitutes a matter of public interest, courts look to certain specific considerations, such as whether the subject of the speech or activity "was a person or entity in the public eye" or "could affect large numbers of people beyond the direct participants"; and whether the activity "occur[red] in the context of an ongoing controversy, dispute or discussion", or "affect[ed] a community ... in a manner similar to that of a governmental entity." (*Id.* at 145.)

This Court advised that it "[is] not concerned with the social utility of the speech at issue, or the degree to which it propelled the conversation in any particular direction; rather, we examine whether a defendant — through public or private speech or conduct — participated in, or furthered, the discourse that makes an issue one of public interest." (*Id.* at 151.) This Court further reaffirmed that "Defendants cannot merely offer a "synecdoche theory" of public interest, defining their narrow dispute by its slight reference to the broader public issue." (*Id.*, citing *Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange, Inc.* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 26, 34.)

In *FilmOn*, DoubleVerfiy argued that its reports "concerned' or 'addressed' topics of widespread public interest: the presence of adult content on the internet, generally, and the presence of copyright-infringing content on FilmOn's websites, specifically." (*Id.* at 150.) However, "[E]ven if adult content on the Internet and FilmOn's particular streaming model are in fact issues of public interest, [this Court] agree[d] with the court in *Wilbanks* that 'it is not enough that the statement refer to a subject of widespread public interest; the statement must in some manner itself contribute to the public debate." (*Id.* at 150, citing *Wilbanks v. Wolk* (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 883, 898.)

The second prong of the test moves the focus from identifying relevant matters of public interest to addressing the specific nature of the defendants' speech and its relationship to the matters of public interest. (*Id.* at 152.) It is the job of the Court to examine whether a defendant – through public or private speech or conduct – participated in, or furthered, the discourse that makes an issue one of public interest. (*Id.* at 151, citing *All One God Faith, Inc. v. Organic & Sustainable Industry Standards, Inc.* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1203-1204 and *Cross v. Cooper* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 357, 375.)

DoubleVerify argued that "FilmOn is notorious for its long history of violating copyright laws" and that FilmOn's CEO routinely entered the public spotlight to discuss himself and FilmOn's business. (*Id.* at 152.) The

Court acknowledged that DoubleVerify "identified the public issues or issues of public interest to which its reports and their 'tags' relate" and that "the various actions of a prominent CEO, or the issue of children's exposure to sexually explicit media content—in the abstract—seem to qualify as issues of public interest under [Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16](e)(4)." (*Id.*)

However, this Court determined that identifying FilmOn as falling into certain categories (i.e., adult content and copyright infringement) tells us nothing about how that identification relates to the issues of adult content and copyright. (*Id.* at 153.) That question can only be answered by looking at the broader context in which DoubleVerify issued its reports, discerning through that context whether the company's conduct qualifies for statutory protection by furthering the public conversation on an issue of public interest. (*Id.*) To that end, a court should examine "the identity of the speaker, the intended audience, and the purpose of the statement." (Id. at 147.)

The Court concluded that DoubleVerify did not issue its report in furtherance of free speech in connection with a public issue – instead, the report was a commercially prepared, confidentially shared document that was only distributed to DoubleVerify's clients solely for business purposes. (*Id.* at 153.)

Existing Authority is Sufficient to Establish What Constitutes a Matter of Public Interest.

"[A] matter of concern to the speaker and a relatively small, specific audience is not a matter of public interest." (Weinberg, supra, 110 Cal.App.4th at 1132; Thomas v. Quintero (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 635, 658 (Thomas).) "[T]he fact that a broad and amorphous public interest can be connected to a specific dispute is not sufficient to meet the statutory requirements of the anti-SLAPP statute." (World Financial Group, Inc. v.

[internal quotation marks omitted].) "At a sufficiently high level of generalization, any conduct can appear rationally related to a broader issue of public importance." (Rand Resources, LLC v. City of Carson (2019) 6 Cal. 5th 610, 625 [speech concerning the issue of who should represent a city in negotiations with the National Football League to build a stadium there is not a matter of public interest, even though the building of the stadium in the city would be].) Such a "synecdoche theory" has been roundly rejected. (Dual Diagnosis Treatment Center, Inc. v. Buschel (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 1098, 1106 [allegations of unethical practice by addiction clinic not a matter of public interest based on general interest in addiction treatment]; Wilson v. Cable News Network, Inc. (2019) 7 Cal.5th 871, 900-903 (Wilson) [California Supreme Court rejected argument that the discussion of a journalist's termination arising out of an acusation of plagiarism of an article about Sheriff Lee Baca's retirement implicated larger issue of journalistic ethics].)

Similarly, the *ex post facto* media attention a matter receives does not create an issue of public interest or otherwise convert the purely private dispute into one of public interest. (See *Wilson*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at 902; *Carver v. Bonds* (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 328, 354 (*Carver*) [A party cannot "create its own defense" under the Anti-SLAPP statute by taking actions that create a controversy.]; *Rivero*, *supra*, 105 Cal.App.4th at 926 [explaining that if the mere publication of information was sufficient to turn a private issue into a public issue, "the public-issue limitation would be substantially eroded, thus seriously undercutting the obvious goal of the Legislature that the public-issue requirement have a limiting effect."].)

3. The Court of Appeal's Unpublished Majority
Opinion's Analysis Followed the Guidance of
FilmOn and Other Anti-SLAPP Cases.

The Court of Appeal's Unpublished Majority Opinion, guided by *FilmOn*, examined both the content of the speech and the context of the speech to determine whether Defendants' conduct merited Anti-SLAPP protection. (Opn., at p. 9.) It engaged in a two-part analysis: 1) What public issue or issue of public interest" the speech at issue implicates (i.e., a question answered by looking at the *content* of the speech); and 2) what functional relationship exists between the speech and the public conversation about the matter of public interest. (See *FilmOn*, *supra*, 7 Cal. 5th at 149-150.)

Contrary to Defendants' assertion, there is no rule in existing Anti-SLAPP jurisprudence, generally, or in *FilmOn* or *Wilson*, in particular, that the Court must grant deference to a moving party's framing of the issue. Instead, the Court is required to look at the content of the speech to determine what public issue or issue of public interest, if any, are implicated by said speech.

The Court of Appeal Majority Opinion summarized the content of Defendants' speech thusly:

As to the content of the speech, during the first demonstration at Wedgewood, the Caamals requested a meeting at which they could discuss repurchasing their property from Wedgewood and the demonstrators left the building once Puhl agreed to such a meeting. During the second demonstration, the demonstrators sought another meeting and Mr. Caamal stated that Wedgewood would not get him out of the property alive. The only evidence of the specific content of the speeches during the demonstration at plaintiff's residence was that the demonstrators demanded plaintiff personally come out of his home.

(<u>Opn</u>., at p. 9.)

The Court of Appeal, in its review of the record, concluded that the "[D]efendants' demonstrations at Wedgewood's office building and plaintiff's residence focused on coercing Wedgewood into selling back the property to Ms. Caamal at a reduced price, which was a private matter concerning a former homeowner and the corporation that purchased her former home and not a public issue or an issue of public interest." (Opn., at p. 8, citing *Garretson v. Post* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1508, 1524 and *USA Waste of California, Inc. v. City of Irwindale* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 53, 65).

The Court of Appeal further determined that "[W]e do not find in the record any basis to conclude plaintiff was a public figure or had gained widespread notoriety throughout the community for his real estate activities. Nor do we find any basis to believe the Caamals' private dispute with plaintiff was one of many similar dispute shared in common with members of the community." (Opn., at p. 10.) In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal contrasted Mr. Geiser with the slumlord plaintiff in *Thomas*, who had wronged more than 100 tenants and became "the first big public case of the campaign in Oakland for a Just Cause for Eviction Ordinance" (Opn., at p.10, citing *Thomas*, supra, 126 Cal.App.4th at 654-658.) Moreover, the Court of Appeal found the record on media coverage to be unclear and lacking. (Opn., at 10.)³

The Court of Appeal went on to acknowledge that "[E]ven if we accepted defendants' contention that the demonstrations concerned the issues of displacement of residents due to residential real estate business practices,

³ The first instance of the media picking up on the Parties dispute came after Defendants stormed Wedgewood's office. As noted above, however, party cannot "create its own defense" under the Anti-SLAPP statute by taking actions that create a controversy. (See *Carver*, *supra*,135 Cal.App.4th at 354.).

gentrification, and large scale fix-and-flip real estate practices leading to the great recession, those demonstrations did not qualify for statutory protection because they did not further the public discourse on those issues." (Opn., at p. 11.) The Court of Appeal did so by looking at the context of Defendants' activities (i.e., the audience, speaker, and purpose).

The Court of Appeal⁴ Majority Opinion pointed out that the record indicates that the demonstration at Wedgewood's Office "occurred at a commercial building, during office hours, and were directed at plaintiff" and that the demonstration at Plaintiff's home "took place at 9:00 p.m. and there is no indication in the record that there was an audience other than plaintiff and his family, and no evidence of media presence to inform persons not at the demonstration." (Id.) The speakers were Defendants and their cohorts. (Id.) Most importantly, the evidence in the record showed that the purpose was to further the Caamals' dispute with Wedgewood:

In Ms. Caamal's declaration, she described the motivation for the demonstrations at Wedgewood's office building. As to the first demonstration, she stated that she and her husband "and a group of concerned citizens seeking to assist us, went to Wedgewood's office building in Redondo Beach and requested a meeting with [plaintiff] to attempt to prevent the impending eviction and negotiate a re-purchase of m[y] home." (Italics added.) As to the second demonstration, she stated that "as Wedgewood was attempting to lock me and my husband from our home and continuing to ignor[e] letters from both myself and my attorney, my husband and I, as well as another group of citizens supporting our effort to repurchase our home, returned to Wedgewood's office and again requested a meeting with [plaintiff]." (Italics added.) She said nothing about Wedgewood's residential real estate business practices displacing residents working-class and gentrifying

⁴ While the Majority Opinion is not as cleanly structured as the the *FilmOn* opinion, it nonetheless fully analyzed each prong of the *FilmOn* test.

neighborhoods or about large scale fix-and-flip real estate practices being a root cause of the great recession.

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